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INTRODUCTION 

The Amended Complaint should be dismissed as to the claims pled against the United 

States and other federal defendants.  The Amended Complaint includes seventeen claims for 

relief.  See Am. Compl. ¶¶ 302–530, ECF No. 21.  Three of those claims (Counts XIV, XV, and 

XVII) are not pled against the United States.  The Tribes voluntarily dismissed Counts VIII, X, 

XI, XII, and XIII.  See ECF No. 73.  The remaining nine claims pled against the United States 

and other federal defendants—Counts I, II, III, IV, V, VI, VII, IX, and XVI—fail to state a claim 

because the Tribes waived and released the claims in the 2012 Settlement Agreement.  Further, 

all but Counts II, III, and IV suffer from additional jurisdictional or other fatal deficiencies. 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Tribes’ Response Ignores the Nature of the Motion to Dismiss. 

The United States moved to dismiss because the Amended Complaint fails to state a 

claim against the United States upon which relief can be granted and because, for some of the 

claims, the Court lacks jurisdiction.  The United States moved under Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 12(b).  See U.S. Renewed Mot. to Dismiss, ECF No. 77.  Despite that procedural 

posture, the Tribes’ response partly attempts to litigate the merits of the Tribes’ case.  The first 

three pages focus on the late-19th Century statutes from which the Tribes’ claims derive, asking 

the Court to adopt the Tribes’ interpretation.  See Pls.’ Resp. to U.S. Renewed Mot. to Dismiss 

(“Resp.”) 2–4, ECF No. 91.  The merits of the Tribes’ claims and the Tribes’ desired statutory 

interpretations, however, are not relevant to the present motion.  The issue is whether the claims 

against the United States can proceed to the merits at all. 

The Tribes’ response also makes several assertions to distract from the issue at hand, 

attempting to find solace in the Supreme Court’s recent decision in McGirt v. Oklahoma, 140 S. 

Ct. 2452 (2020).  See Resp. 2–3.  But McGirt has nothing to do with the motion to dismiss.  The 
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motion has not asked that the Court “diminish reservation lands,” whether on the basis of the 

2012 Settlement Agreement or anything else.  Resp. 2, 6.  The present issue is simply whether 

the Tribes waived and released—in exchange for $60 million—the claims they now attempt to 

bring against the United States (and whether the claims suffer from other jurisdictional or 

pleading deficiencies).  Ruling on the motion to dismiss does not require the Court to make any 

conclusion about the Tribes’ interest in the subject parcels beyond what is alleged in the 

Amended Complaint, nor to interpret any treaties or statutes.  See Resp. 3–4.1 

The Tribes also implicitly renew their request for discovery.  See Resp. 6.  But the Tribes 

are incorrect that the “Motion requires factual findings on genuinely disputed facts.”  Resp. 5.  

The United States makes it argument primarily under Rule 12(b)(6), which limits itself to facts 

alleged in the complaint.  See Ex. 1 to 3d Decl. of Kristofor Swanson, ECF No. 77-8; Lee v. City 

of Los Angeles, 250 F.3d 668, 688 (9th Cir. 2001).  The Court has already found that “the Tribes 

have not identified factual issues raised by the Motion to Dismiss that warrant early discovery.”  

Mem. Decision & Order 14, ECF No. 88.   

II. The Tribes Waived and Released Their Claims Against the United States in the 2012 
Settlement. 

The United States’ argument under the 2012 Settlement Agreement is simple.  First, the 

Tribes’ claims against the United States fall within the scope of the “harms or violations” 

covered by 2012 Settlement’s waiver and release, and the Tribes are collaterally estopped from 

arguing the contrary because they litigated and lost the issue in the D.C. District Court.  See 

Mem. in Supp. of U.S.’s Renewed Mot. to Dismiss (“U.S. Mem.”) 13–17, ECF No. 77-1.  

                                         
1 To the extent the Tribes are arguing that the Indian canon of construction requires the 2012 
Settlement Agreement (as opposed to an ambiguous treaty or statute) to be interpreted in favor of 
the Tribes, they provide no support for the proposition.  See Resp. at 3–4.  The Tribes were 
represented by able counsel in entering the settlement, and the D.C. District Court has already 
found that the Tribes’ desired interpretation lacks merit. 
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Second, the waiver and release applies because, based upon the Amended Complaint’s own 

allegations, the “harms or violations”—the alleged failure to treat the parcels as trust land after 

alleged non-railroad uses—occurred prior to May 16, 2012 (the settlement’s effective date).  See 

U.S. Mem. 17–20. 

The Tribes’ response does not dispute that collateral estoppel applies, nor that the 

Amended Complaint alleges the non-railroad uses to have begun prior to May 16, 2012.  The 

Tribes have therefore conceded both points.  On that basis alone, the United States’ motion 

should be granted.  See Rhodes v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., No. 4:19-cv-00124-DCN, 2020 WL 

6747975, at *2 (D. Idaho Nov. 17, 2020) (citing, among others, Walsh v. Nev. Dep’t of Human 

Res., 471 F.3d 1033, 1037 (9th Cir. 2006)). 

Where the Tribes do address the 2012 Settlement, the Tribes simply restate the arguments 

they made in the D.C. District Court—namely, that the Settlement’s waiver and release does not 

apply because the United States does not view the parcels as trust land.  See Resp. 7–8, 11–12.  

The D.C. District Court ruled against the Tribes on that argument and the Tribes chose not to 

appeal.  Shoshone-Bannock Tribes v. Bernhardt, 486 F. Supp. 3d 61, 66 (D.D.C. 2020) (“Because 

the Tribes assert that the railroad lands reverted to the United States in trust for the Tribes, their 

claims are related to the United States’ management of the Tribes’ non-monetary trust assets.”). 

Further—and despite the Tribes’ continued effort to expand the scope of the opinion 

(Resp. 5–6)—the D.C. District Court explicitly said it was not assessing the validity of the 

United States’ motion to dismiss in this Court.  Shoshone-Bannock Tribes, 486 F. Supp. 3d at 67–

69.  The D.C. District Court noted (in dicta) that determining when the Tribes’ alleged harms 

occurred “may also require resolving factual disputes through evidentiary proceedings.”  Id. at 

67.  But it did so in the context of explaining why it would not interfere with the proceedings 
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before this Court, not as a conclusion that the Amended Complaint pled facts that would take its 

claims outside of the 2012 Settlement’s waiver and release.  See id. at 67–68. 

Finally, the Tribes argue that, despite the 2012 Settlement, they should be able to proceed, 

at least in part, with their claims for declaratory judgment, mandamus, breach of trust, and 

ejectment (Counts I, VII, IX, and XVI).  Resp. 8–11.  The Tribes posit that those claims were not 

waived in their entirety under the 2012 Settlement because the harm (the United States’ treatment 

of the lands as something other than trust property) has continued to occur after May 16, 2012.  

See Resp. 10.2 

The “harms or violations” for purposes of the waiver and release, however (see 2012 

Settlement ¶ 4, ECF No. 77-3), are the United States’ alleged refusal to recognize the Tribes’ 

interest when the Railroad Company allegedly stopped using the parcels for railroad purposes 

and (according to the Tribes) the parcels reverted to trust status.  See Am. Compl. ¶¶ 310, 311, 

312, 314 (Count I); id. ¶¶ 418, 420, 421, 422 (Count VII); id. ¶¶ 439–42 (Count IX); id. ¶¶ 498–

500 (Count XVI).  The Amended Complaint alleges that the five parcels had all been put to non-

railroad uses well before the 2012 Settlement.  See Am. Compl. ¶¶ 198, 212–13, 318, 369, 391.  

The fact that consequences from the “harms or violations” are still felt today does not revive a 

claim against the United States that the Tribes previously waived and released in exchange for 

$60 million.  And, in any event, the claims for declaratory judgment, mandamus, breach of trust, 

and ejectment are not cognizable for other reasons.  See infra at 9–17. 

                                         
2 The Tribes do not make this argument with respect to the Quiet Title Act claims (Counts II, III, 
IV, V, and VI).   
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III. Even Ignoring the 2012 Settlement, Dismissal Would Be Warranted for All But 
Counts II, III, and IV. 

Even if the Tribes had not waived and released their present claims against the United 

States in the 2012 Settlement, all but Counts II, III, and IV would still need to be dismissed as 

pled against the United States. 

A. Counts V and VI (to Quiet Title) are Time-Barred. 

The claims to quiet title in the City Creek and the 3.27-acre parcels (Counts V and VI) are 

time-barred as against the United States.  The Quiet Title Act’s waiver of sovereign immunity 

requires that suit be “commenced within twelve years of the date upon which [the claim] 

accrued.”  28 U.S.C. § 2409a(g).  The limitation must be strictly construed in favor of the United 

States, and the court lacks jurisdiction if a claim accrued more than twelve years prior to suit.  

See Block v. North Dakota ex rel. Bd. of Univ. & Sch. Lands, 461 U.S. 273, 292 (1983). 

Our opening brief explained that the Tribes were aware no later than 1993—through the 

Bureau of Land Management’s public process for issuing a nature trail right-of-way—that the 

City Creek parcel was no longer used for railroad purposes and that the United States did not 

regard the parcel as trust land.  See U.S. Mem. 22–23 (citing Exhs. 1–3 to Miller Decl., ECF 

No. 77-7).  The Tribes also received documents in 2004 that put the Tribes on notice that the 

Bureau of Land Management believed “it appears the lands underlying the [City Creek parcel] 

do revert to the United States . . . .”  Nov. 26, 1991 Mem. from State Director to District 

Manager 2 (Ex. 5 to Miller Decl., ECF No. 77-7); Letter from K. Lynn Bennett to Paul 

EchoHawk (Mar. 23, 2004) (Ex. 4 to Miller Decl., ECF No. 77-7). 

Similarly, with respect to the 3.27-acre parcel, the Tribes received actual knowledge in 

2004 that the parcel had been relinquished in 1965 and was no longer being used for railroad 

purposes.  See U.S. Mem. 24–25 (citing Exhs. 4, 7, and 8 to Miller Decl., ECF No. 77-7).  
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In response, the Tribes do not dispute that the Bureau of Land Management consulted 

with them in 1993 regarding the City Creek parcel’s nature trail.  Nor do the Tribes dispute that, 

in 2004, they received the documents upon which we rely.  The Tribes also do not argue that the 

documents failed to provide sufficient information upon which they could have brought Counts 

V and VI. 

Instead, the Tribes’ response makes numerous legal points in an effort to avoid the Quiet 

Title Act’s limitations period.  None of the points have merit. 

First, the Tribes argue that the Amended Complaint’s factual allegations regarding claim 

accrual are sufficient to defeat the motion to dismiss because the Quiet Title Act’s limitations 

period is not jurisdictional.  See Resp. 12–13, 19–20 (relying upon United States v. Kwai Fun 

Wong, 575 U.S. 402, 409 (2015)).  The Supreme Court, however, has treated the Quiet Title Act’s 

statute of limitations as jurisdictional because it is a condition of the Act’s waiver of sovereign 

immunity.  Block, 461 U.S. at 287–290.  The Ninth Circuit has followed suit.  See Kingman Reef 

Atoll Investments, LLC v. United States, 541 F.3d 1189, 1195–96 (9th Cir. 2008). 

The Supreme Court’s Kwai Fun Wong opinion addressed the Federal Tort Claims Act, not 

the Quiet Title Act.  See 575 U.S. at 405–21.  And the Supreme Court does not overrule 

precedent by implication.  See Agostini v. Felton, 521 U.S. 203, 237 (1997).  Thus, “in the 

absence of any Supreme Court decision overruling Block, ‘we must follow the Supreme Court 

precedent that directly controls[.]’”  Kingman Reef Atoll, 541 F.3d at 1196 (citation omitted); see 

also Wilkins v. United States, 18-cv-147-M-DLC-KLD, 2020 WL 2732251, at *3–7 (D. Mont. 

May 26, 2020) (discussing Quiet Title Act’s limitations period post-Kwai Fun Wong and 

concluding that prior precedent still governs). 
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Second, the Tribes argue that the statute of limitations has not run because Congress has 

not made an adverse claim on the property.  Resp. 13–14.  The argument confuses the merits of 

Counts V and VI with the statute of limitations.  The present question is not whether “the 

Government has taken a legitimate adverse ownership claim” (Resp. 14 (emphasis added)), but 

whether the Tribes knew or should have known of an adverse ownership claim, regardless of its 

legitimacy.  See Kingman Reef Atoll, 541 F.3d at 1197. 

Third, the Tribes argue that they could not have been aware of any possible adverse claim 

because of “[t]he Government’s continual reaffirmance of the Tribes’ interest . . . .”  See Resp. 

14–16.  But only three of the documents to which the Tribes cite post-date the information that 

we argue put the Tribes on notice.  See Resp. 15.  The 2005 memorandum (Pls.’ Ex. 9, ECF No. 

22-6) says nothing specifically about the City Creek or 3.27-acre parcels.  The 2008 

administrative decision also did not address either parcel.  See Oct. 7, 2008, Mem., ECF No. 22-

17 (Pls.’ Ex. 39).  The January 31, 2012, letter addressed only the bus depot, credit union 

building, and parking lot at issue in Counts II, III, and IV, which we have not argued are time-

barred.  See Jan. 31, 2012, letter at 2, ECF No. 22-11 (Pls.’ Ex. 24). 

Fourth, the Tribes argue that government ownership of trust property is not adverse to a 

tribe because the tribe’s interest is a beneficial one in land otherwise owned by the government.  

See Resp. 16–17.  The Tribes are correct that a tribe’s interest in trust land is a beneficial interest.  

But the point is irrelevant.  Counts V and VI allege that the government is not recognizing the 

Tribes’ supposed beneficial interest.  See Am. Compl. ¶¶ 386, 407. 

The Tribes point to a 2014 notice for the City Creek parcel, a December 2016 email, and 

the nature of environmental assessments to argue that the United States has not met its burden to 

show a lack of jurisdiction.  Resp. 16–17.  Now that jurisdiction has been challenged, however, 
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the burden is on the Tribes to show that jurisdiction exists.  Rattlesnake Coal. v. U.S. Env’t Prot. 

Agency, 509 F.3d 1095, 1102 n.1 (9th Cir. 2007).  And none of the three documents support the 

Tribes’ arguments. 

The 2014 notice only finalized the relinquishment that the Railroad Company submitted 

in 1989—by 2014, the City Creek parcel had long been used for non-railroad purposes and the 

United States had not been treating it as trust land.  See U.S. Mem. 24 (citing Ex. 6 to Miller 

Decl., ECF No. 77-7).  The 2016 email stated that the City Creek parcel “remain[ed] open to the 

public,” a management status contrary to the idea of trust land and consistent with how the land 

had been managed since at least 1993.  See Dec. 14, 2016, Email (emphasis added), ECF 

No. 22–18 (Pls.’ Ex. 42).  And, regardless of the 1993 Environmental Assessment’s purpose, the 

document clearly stated that the Railroad Company had relinquished the right-of-way in 1991 

and the “right-of-way revert[ed] to the United States upon relinquishment of that right-of-way.”  

Env’t Assessment 1, Ex. 2 to Miller Decl., ECF No. 77-7. 

Fifth, the Tribes argue that the limitations period restarted in 2016 because the United 

States abandoned and then re-asserted its interest.  Resp. 18.  But the Tribes do not point to 

anything showing that the United States has claimed that either the City Creek or the 3.27-acre 

parcel is trust land that the United States holds for the Tribes’ benefit. 

Finally, the Tribes argue that the Court should defer ruling on the statute of limitations 

issue until after it has resolved the merits of the case because the “jurisdictional and substantive 

issues are so intertwined.”  Resp. 21; see id. at 5.  The Ninth Circuit rejected a similar argument 

in Kingman Reef Atoll: “the question whether this action was timely was not inextricably 

intertwined with the ultimate merits issue of ownership.  As the district court correctly noted, 

‘[t]he crucial issue in the statute of limitations inquiry is whether the plaintiff had notice of the 
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federal claim, not whether the claim itself is valid.’”  541 F.3d at 1197 (citation omitted).  Counts 

V and VI should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. 

B. The Amended Complaint Does Not Identify a Mandatory, Non-Discretionary 
Duty for Count VII (for Mandamus). 

The mandamus claim (Count VII) should be dismissed because the Amended Complaint 

does not identify a mandatory, non-discretionary duty that can be compelled via mandamus.  

Count VII relies upon the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), 5 U.S.C. § 706.  Am. Compl. 

¶ 411.  But, as relevant here, the APA “empowers a court only to compel an agency ‘to perform a 

ministerial or non-discretionary act.’”  Norton v. S. Utah Wilderness Alliance (SUWA), 542 U.S. 

55, 64 (2004) (citation omitted).  Section 706(1) of the APA carried forward the traditional writ 

of mandamus (SUWA, 542 U.S. at 63), which “is only available to compel an officer of the 

United States to perform a duty if (1) the plaintiff’s claim is clear and certain; (2) the duty of the 

officer ‘is ministerial and so plainly prescribed as to be free from doubt[;]’ and (3) no other 

adequate remedy is available.”  Fallini v. Hodel, 783 F.2d 1343, 1345 (9th Cir. 1986) (citations 

omitted).  The Tribes, not the United States, hold the burden to demonstrate jurisdiction.  See 

Rattlesnake Coal., 509 F.3d at 1102 n.1.3 

As explained in our opening brief, none of the actions that the Amended Complaint seeks 

to compel are so “plainly prescribed” in statute or regulation that they could be compelled 

through mandamus, and many are also subject to enforcement discretion.  See U.S. Mem. 25–30 

(discussing duties alleged in Am. Compl. at 78 (Prayer for Relief ¶ B) and Am. Compl. ¶¶ 422–

                                         
3 The Tribes’ response cites NAACP v. Levi, 418 F. Supp. 1109 (D.D.C. 1976) for the mandamus 
standard.  See Resp. 22 n.93.  Given its date, the case (and its standard) are inapplicable.  See 
Williams v. Glickman, 936 F. Supp. 1, 3 & n.4 (D.D.C. 1996).  And, in any event, this is not a 
constitutional discrimination case.  The Tribes also cite to Knox v. Unknown Parties, 139 S. Ct. 
2702 (2019).  Resp. 22 n.95.  But the citation is to a denial of a petition for writ of certiorari.  See 
139 S. Ct. at 2702. 
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23).  The Tribes’ response references the regulatory provisions at 25 C.F.R. § 169.401 and 

§ 169.492(a)(1) (Resp. 23, 25, 26); the United States’ trust responsibilities to Indians (Resp. 23); 

and the 1888 Act (Resp. 25).  But none includes the supposed non-discretionary duties. 

The regulation at 25 C.F.R. § 169.401—assuming Part 169 would apply to the 

circumstances here—summarizes the purpose of the Bureau of Indian Affairs’ right-of-way 

compliance and enforcement regulations and is clearly discretionary.  See 25 C.F.R. § 169.401.  

The section states that certain unlawful activities “may result in enforcement actions.”  Id. 

(emphasis added).  Despite the Tribes’ assertions (Resp. 25), § 169.401 does not say anything 

about notices or termination.  Perhaps the Tribes were referring to 25 C.F.R. §§ 169.404 and 

169.405(c).  But the former says “If we determine there has been a violation of the conditions of 

a grant,” and the latter says “If we decide to cancel the grant . . . .”  Id. §§ 169.404(b), 169.405(c) 

(emphasis added).   

Section 169.492 does not even appear in Title 25.  We assume the Tribes intended to cite 

§ 169.402(a)(1).  But that, too, says the Bureau of Indian Affairs “may investigate compliance 

with a right-of-way.”  25 C.F.R. § 169.402(a).  At most, the provision requires an investigation, 

not any certain outcome or remedy.  See id. § 169.402(a)(1).  The Tribes argue that reading the 

enforcement regulations as discretionary would be inconsistent with the 1934 Indian 

Reorganization Act.  See Resp. 23–24.  The regulations, however, were promulgated under the 

authority of a 1948 statute governing rights-of-way, not the Indian Reorganization Act.  See 

Rights-of-Way on Indian Land, 80 Fed. Reg. 72,492-01, 72,492–93 (Nov. 19, 2015) (citing 25 

U.S.C. §§ 323–28). 

The Tribes’ response also does not point to anything in the 1888 Act that requires the 

United States to take the actions Count VII seeks to compel.  See Act of Sept. 1, 1888, 50 Cong. 
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ch. 936, 25 Stat. 452.  The United States’ trust relationship with tribes cannot provide an 

independent basis for mandamus relief because enforceable trust obligations must be rooted in 

treaty, statute, or regulation.  See United States v. Jicarilla Apache Nation, 564 U.S. 162, 165 

(2011); Shoshone-Bannock Tribes v. Reno, 56 F.3d 1476, 1482 (D.C. Cir. 1995).  The Tribes’ 

response does not identify any treaty, statute, or regulation beyond the 1888 Act and 25 C.F.R. 

§§ 169.401, 169.402. 

More generally, however, the Tribes’ response clarifies that Count VII’s goal is for the 

Court to compel the United States to take certain enforcement or other actions with respect to 

what the Tribes see as unlawful or uncompensated use of trust lands.  See Resp. 9 (alleging 

failure “to prevent trespass, to eject those in improper possession of the Reverted Trust Property, 

. . . .”); id. at 23 (arguing that there is an affirmative duty to act and address enforcement and 

compliance issues).  “For reasons that fully apply to this case, the Supreme Court [has] held that 

‘agency refusals to institute investigations or enforcement proceedings’ are presumed immune 

from judicial review under the [APA]” because they are committed to agency discretion.  

Shoshone-Bannock Tribes, 56 F.3d at 1480–81 (quoting Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821, 832 

(1985), and citing 5 U.S.C. § 701(a)(2)).  And, here, none of the statutes or regulations the Tribes 

have identified restrict that discretion in the manner that would be necessary before a court could 

compel an agency to act.  See Shoshone-Bannock Tribes, 56 F.3d at 1481; accord Sierra Club v. 

Whitman, 268 F.3d 898, 902–905 (9th Cir. 2001) (rejecting request to compel EPA under the 

Clean Water Act, rather than the APA, to undertake enforcement investigation and make 

findings). 

It appears that the Tribes believe Interior to have already exercised some of its discretion, 

again relying on the January 2012 letter.  See Resp. 25 (“the 2012 DOI Notice Letter served as 
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the notice of improper use”); id. at 27–29.  As we have explained, however, the letter does not go 

as far as the Tribes desire.  See U.S. Mem. 29–30.  The letter stated a concern to the Railroad 

Company and asked the Company to contact the Department of the Interior.  The Company 

responded, disputing any right-of-way violation.  See Apr. 4, 2012, letter from Christopher Aiken 

to Stanley Speaks 1, ECF No. 77-5 (U.S. Ex. D) (asserting that the lands in question were ceded 

to the United States in 1900).  Even if the letter could be considered a written notice of violation 

under the Part 169 regulations, those regulations allow a party the right to dispute that it is 

violating a right-of-way.  25 C.F.R. § 169.404(b)(2)(ii). 

Finally, the Tribes rely upon the so-called “TRAC factors” from the D.C. Circuit’s 

decision in Telecommunications Research & Action Center (TRAC) v. FCC, 750 F.2d 70, 79–80 

(D.C. Cir. 1984).  See Resp. 24, 29.  The TRAC factors, however, apply to a court’s consideration 

of an unreasonable delay claim—that is, where an agency has failed to meet a statutory deadline 

to take some action (for example, issuing a regulation or responding to a petition).  See TRAC, 

750 F.2d at 79 (“In the context of a claim for unreasonable delay . . . .”).4  In resolving a claim 

for unreasonable delay, courts can only compel an agency to act, without directing how it will 

act.  SUWA, 542 U.S. at 65.  Count VII does the latter: it asks the Court to compel to the 

Department of the Interior to take actions that the Tribes desire but that are not mandated by any 

statute or regulation and many of which are also subject to agency enforcement discretion.  See 

Am. Compl. ¶¶ 410–24.  “[A] delay cannot be unreasonable with respect to action that is not 

required.”  SUWA, 542 U.S. at 63 n.1.  Count VII should be dismissed. 

                                         
4 The TRAC factors apply to the court’s consideration of the merits, not the question of whether a 
duty exists in the first place. 
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C. There Is No Viable Administrative Procedure Act Claim for Count IX (for 
Breach of Trust). 

The Tribes’ response makes clear that the breach of trust claim (Count IX) is brought 

under the APA.  See Resp. 29–30.  As we explained, however, the APA is not available here 

because: (1) the Amended Complaint seeks money damages, which the APA does not cover, 5 

U.S.C. § 702; (2) the Amended Complaint does not challenge any final agency action, as is 

required by 5 U.S.C. § 704; and (3) also contrary to 5 U.S.C. § 704, an adequate remedy would 

exist for the claim in the Court of Federal Claims under the Tucker Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1491(a)(1).  

See U.S. Mem. 30–33. 

The Tribes’ response does not dispute that Count IX seeks monetary relief.  Nor does the 

response dispute that an adequate remedy would exist in the Court of Federal Claims.  Judicial 

review for Count IX is therefore not available in district court under the APA.  See 5 U.S.C. 

§ 702 (defining the APA right to review as “[a]n action in a court of the United States seeking 

relief other than money damages . . . .”); id. § 704 (“Agency action made reviewable by statute 

and final agency action for which there is no other adequate remedy in a court are subject to 

judicial review.”).5 

The Tribes argue that they have a viable APA claim because the Amended Complaint 

identifies several agency actions.  See Resp. 30 (referencing Plaintiffs’ Exhibits 9, 14, 24–31, 39, 

                                         
5 Because the Tribes have not disputed that they are seeking monetary relief, the question of 
whether the Amended Complaint has properly pled a district court breach of trust claim for 
injunctive relief is not implicated.  See, e.g., Navajo Nation v. U.S. Dep’t of the Interior, 996 F.3d 
623, 636–43 (9th Cir. 2021).  The Tribes’ response also references 5 U.S.C. § 706(1).  See Resp. 
30.  To the extent the Tribes intended to base Count IX on § 706(1), the claim is a restatement of 
the mandamus claim and would need to be dismissed for the reasons explained above.  See supra 
at 9–12; SUWA, 542 U.S. at 64 (“[A] claim under § 706(1) can proceed only where a plaintiff 
asserts that an agency failed to take a discrete agency action that it is required to take.”).  To the 
extent the Tribes are attempting to use the APA as a means to litigate the underlying title 
question, the claim would lack a waiver of sovereign immunity and should be dismissed for the 
same reason as the ejectment claim (Count XVI).  See infra at 15–17. 
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and 42).  But a final agency action is irrelevant given the tacit admissions we note in the 

paragraph above.  In any event, there are at least two problems with the Tribes’ theory. 

First, claims challenging final agency action under the APA are governed by the six-year 

statute of limitations in 28 U.S.C. § 2401(a).  See Turtle Island Restoration Network v. U.S. 

Dep’t of Commerce, 438 F.3d 937, 942–43 (9th Cir. 2006).  The Tribes filed the original 

complaint in this case on June 26, 2018.  See Compl., ECF No. 1.  Thus, any challenge to a final 

agency action that predates June 26, 2012, would be time-barred.  Eleven of the twelve exhibits 

that the Tribes put forth predate June 2012, in some cases by decades.  See Pls.’ Exs. 9, 14, 24–

31, 39, 42, ECF Nos. 22-6, 22-8, 22-11, 22-12, 22-13, 22-17, 22-18. 

Second, the Tribes’ response does not explain how the exhibits constitute “final agency 

actions.”  A “final agency action” is one that (1) marks the consummation of the agency’s 

decision-making, and (2) has legal consequences.  See City of San Diego v. Whitman, 242 F.3d 

1097, 1101 (9th Cir. 2001) (citing Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 177–78 (1997)).  Two of the 

Tribes’ cited exhibits arguably meet the standard, but predate the six-year limitations period.  See 

Pls.’ Exs. 14, 39.6  Seven of the documents are inward facing or deliberative in nature (in some 

cases from counsel), and thus cannot be considered the consummation of any agency decision-

making.  See Pls.’ Exs. 9, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30. 

The remaining three documents are Department of the Interior statements to outside 

parties.  See Pls.’ Exhs. 24, 31, 42.  But they, too, either lack a consummation of agency 

decision-making or do not impact any legal rights.  For example, the January 31, 2012, letter 

                                         
6 Exhibit 39 would only have become final if no administrative appeal was filed.  See Pls.’ Ex. 39 
at 2.  It is also unclear why the Tribes would want to challenge the decision in Exhibit 39, which 
concluded that the parcel in question—which is not at issue in this case—had “revert[ed] back to 
the United States (Bureau of Indian Affairs) to be held in trust for the Shoshone-Bannock 
Tribes.”  Pls.’ Ex. 39 at 2. 
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(Pls.’ Ex. 24) did not constitute a final decision on the part of Interior.  The letter stated a concern 

to the Railroad Company, and the Company later responded.  See U.S. Ex. D, ECF No. 77-5; 

accord 25 C.F.R. § 169.404(b)(2)(ii) (allowing for a right-of-way grantee to dispute that 

violation of the right-of-way grant has occurred).  There has been no final resolution of the issue. 

Exhibit 31 includes a 1999 letter from Interior counsel to the Railroad Company 

addressing fencing, roadways, and warning devices, and asking for follow-up information and 

corrective action.  Similarly, the December 2016 email (Pls.’ Ex. 42) is not an Interior decision 

on anything.  The email is from the Bureau of Land Management’s public affairs office to an 

unidentified individual.  The email notes that the Bureau is aware that the Tribes have been 

posting signs on the Bureau-managed City Creek parcel, but that “[t]he area remains open to the 

public while further review occurs.”  Pls.’ Ex. 42 (emphasis added).  Count IX should be 

dismissed. 

D. The United States Has Not Waived Sovereign Immunity for Count XVI (for 
Ejectment and Restitution). 

The Court lacks jurisdiction over Count XVI (for ejectment and restitution) because, 

“Congress intended the [Quiet Title Act] to provide the exclusive means by which adverse 

claimants could challenge the United States’ title to real property.”  Block, 461 U.S. at 286.  

“[W]hen the United States has an interest in . . . disputed property, the waiver of sovereign 

immunity must be found, if at all, within the [Quiet Title Act].”  Leisnoi, Inc. v. United States, 

170 F.3d 1188 (9th Cir. 1999) (quoting Alaska v. Babbitt, 38 F.3d 1068, 1073 (9th Cir. 1994)). 

The Ninth Circuit has “adopt[ed] a pragmatic approach and conclude[d] that a suit that 

actually challenges the federal government’s title, however denominated, falls within the scope 

of the [Quiet Title Act] regardless of the remedy sought.”  Robinson v. United States, 586 F.3d 

683, 688 (9th Cir. 2009).  Count XVI falls under that umbrella.  The claim challenges the nature 
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of the federal government’s title, alleging that the United States is “in possession” of the parcels 

but that the Tribes are actually “the beneficial owners.”  Am. Compl. ¶¶ 498–99.  And the Tribes 

seek declaratory relief regarding the United States’ (and, thus, the Tribes’) property interest.  See 

Am. Compl. at 77 (Prayer for Relief); accord Rosette, Inc. v. United States, 141 F.3d 1394, 

1396–97 (10th Cir. 1998) (concluding that a complaint styled as one for quiet title, ejectment, 

and declaratory relief regarding the United States’ interest in geothermal resources was an action 

under the Quiet Title Act). 

The Tribes attempt to articulate the ejectment claim as one against the individual federal 

defendants, rather than against the United States.  Resp. 31–32.  But the Court “need not be 

detained long by [the Tribes’] contention that it can avoid the [Quiet Title Act’s] statute of 

limitations and other restrictions by device of an officer’s suit.”  Block, 461 U.S. at 284.  “[T]he 

action of a federal officer affecting property claimed by a plaintiff can be made the basis of a suit 

for specific relief against the officer as an individual only if the officer’s action is ‘not within the 

officer’s statutory powers or, if within those powers, only if the powers, or their exercise in the 

particular case, are constitutionally void.’”  Ritter v. Morton, 513 F.2d 942, 945 (9th Cir. 1975) 

(quoting Malone v. Bowdoin, 369 U.S. 643, 647 (1962)); see also McClellan v. Kimball, 623 F.2d 

83, 85–86 (9th Cir. 1980) (concluding that, because the forest supervisor was performing his 

duties as a Forest Service officer, the suit for ejectment was one against the United States, for 

which the Quiet Title Act governed). 

The Tribes have not “asserted that [any individual] was exceeding his delegated powers 

as an officer of the United States in occupying the land in question, or that he was in possession 

of the land in anything other than his official capacity.”  Malone, 369 U.S. at 648; see Am. 

Compl. ¶¶ 497–500.  The Amended Complaint includes a conclusory allegation that the 
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individual federal defendants “acted outside the scope of their authority.”  Am. Compl. ¶ 19.  

“However, the bare allegations cannot lift the jurisdictional bar if the action is, in actuality, one 

to quiet title against the United States.”  Ritter, 513 F.2d at 945.  The Court lacks jurisdiction 

over those portions of Count XVI pled against the United States. 

E. Count I (for Declaratory Judgment) Should Also Be Dismissed. 

The Tribes agree that the Declaratory Judgment Act does not create an independent basis 

of jurisdiction or a standalone claim against the United States.  See Resp. 33–34.  “[W]hile the 

[Declaratory Judgment Act] expanded the scope of the federal courts’ remedial powers, it did 

nothing to alter the courts’ jurisdiction, or the ‘right of entrance to federal courts.’” Countrywide 

Home Loans, Inc. v. Mort. Guar. Ins. Corp., 642 F.3d 849, 853 (9th Cir. 2011) (quoting Skelly Oil 

Co. v. Phillips Petroleum Co., 339 U.S. 667, 671 (1950)).  The Tribes’ response (Resp. 34) also 

cites Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents, 403 U.S. 388 (1971).  But this is not a Bivens case—

the Amended Complaint does not seek money damages for an alleged violation of a 

constitutional right.  Because all of the Tribes’ other remaining claims against the United States 

fail to state a claim or are claims for which the district courts lack jurisdiction, Count I should 

also be dismissed. 

CONCLUSION 

The Amended Complaint’s (ECF No. 21) remaining claims against the United States and 

the other federal defendants should be dismissed—specifically, Counts I, II, III, IV, V, VI, VII, 

IX, and XVI.  The Tribes have previously waived and released those claims.  Even if that were 

not the case, the Amended Complaint separately fails to state a claim for, or the Court lacks 

jurisdiction over, all but Counts II, III, and IV. 
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